IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

NOV 14 1986

CLERY SHIREME COURT

JOHN GARY HARDWICK, JR.

Appellant,

۷s.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 68,769

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Fourth Judicial Circuit

Capital Case

Clyde M. Collins, Jr. 707 Peninsular Place Jacksonville, Florida 32204 904/355-0805 Court Appointed Appellate Counsel for HARDWICK

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a sentence of death. John G. Hardwick, Jr. was charged by indictment with first degree murder(R 28). John Hardwick proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Page Haddock, Circuit Judge, on March 11, 12 and 13, 1986.

Hardwick's trial was marked with three unusual prejudicial events. First, less than a month before trial, trial counsel, Frank Tassone, filed a Motion to Withdraw, or alternatively, for appointment of co-counsel (R 129). Α held appellant testified hearing was and the οf irreconcilable differences with his defense counsel (T 64-67, R 130). Hardwick repeatedly denied that he was adequate to represent himself but would do so if the Court didn't grant the motion of defense counsel to withdraw (T 66, 68-69, 74, 75). The Motion was denied (T 69)(R 132). Appellant's ore tenus motion to be appointed co-counsel was also denied (T 78). Later, on the third day of trial, Hardwick renewed his motion with a pro se motion to dismiss counsel. (R 145) (T 664). The appellant claimed that counsel refused to ask state witnesses certain questions and refused to call certain witnesses for the defense. motion was denied. (T 667, R 146). Second, James Pullum, a relative of the decedent, was ejected from the courtroom for making obscene gestures to Hardwick. (T 460). Pullum stated to the Court that he wanted to "let everybody know [that he

.3

knew] that man that killed [Pullum]." (T 461). Later, Pullum was barred from the courthouse because of his contact with witnesses. Third, there were numerous violations of the witness sequestration rule. State witness Richard Jones testified that he spoke with other witnesses about the case, as to "who knows what, who did what, who was where." (T549, 551). Appellant's motion for mistrial was denied.

At the conclusion of the guilt stage of the trial, the jury returned a verdict finding John Hardwick guilty of murder in the first degree (R 167). At the penalty phase of the trial, the jury by a vote of seven to five recommended a death sentence (R 173).

The trial judge found five aggravating circumstances and no statutory or mitigating circumstances (R 183-187). The appellant was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to death by electrocution (R 181). Notice of appeal was timely filed (R 191) and undersigned counsel appointed for purpose of direct appeal (R 190).

L 💆

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant John Hardwick and his 16 year old pregnant wife, Darlene Hardwick, lived with his in-law Pete McCoy and Dan Dimaggio, among others, in the oceanway area of Jacksonville in December 1984. John Hardwick was unemployed; he occasionally sold drugs, such as cocaine, marijuana and quaaludes to a number of young people in the neighborhood, including Jeff Bartley and the decedent Keith Pullum. (T 322).

On the morning of Christmas eve, a retired Virginia farmer, Henry Honaker was fishing at a point where Haulover Creek empties into the St. Johns River. (T 349). He observed an object floating in the river and brought it to shore. (T 350). The police were called and in due course took possession of a clothed white male body without shoes or identification. (T 360). The police requested that the news media broadcast and print all information known at that time in order to identify the decedent. (T 362).

On Christmas Day, John Hardwick walked to a neighbor's house. (T 514). Michael Hyzer had purchased twenty-five quaaludes from Hardwick earlier in the week. (T 513). Hyzer, a friend of both the appellant and the decedent. (T 510), testified at trial that Hardwick stated that he shot and stabbed Keith Pullum and threw his body into the river for stealing his quaaludes (T 514-15). According to Hyzer,

Hardwick said that "we" took care of Pullum, but he would not identify the other party to the crime. (T 515). Later that morning, Hyzer called the police, informed the homicide detectives of his conversation with Hardwick, and subsequently identified the body of Keith Pullum. (T 516).

That afternoon, the appellant John Hardwick was arrested near his home. Jacksonville Detective Charles Kesinger interviewed Hardwick and testified over defense objection (T 623-25) of oral and written statements by Hardwick linking him to the homicide. Kesinger testified that Hardwick denied owning any guns; (T 628) volunteered that he was "missing some quaaludes but it's not a big deal;" (T 629) and denied making a statement of killing Pullum about drugs. (T 630). Detectives Christopher Robinson and D.L. Hill testified over defense objection (TX) that Hardwick stated "a man can't go around robbing dope dealers and not expect to get killed." (T 587, 595)

At the trial, a number of Hardwick's friends and drug customers testified of conversations and activities with Hardwick which linked him to the homicide. Jeffrey Showalter testified that on December 23, 1984, John Hardwick, Jeff Bartley and Keith Pullum purchased a number of quaaludes. (T 322). A few hours later that evening, after returning to his home, Showalter was visited by Hardwick, Bartley and Pullum. (T 313-14). Hardwick said that his quaaludes were missing and that Showalter and Pullum

, 🎚

were the only persons in the house. (T 313). Showalter denied stealing the quaaludes. Hardwick, accompanied by Bartley and Pullum, left. (T 313). [visit #1].

Showalter testified that between 11:00 and 11:30, Keith Pullum rode by the house on his bicycle. (T 314) (T 327). Showalter recalled that Pullum said he was going home to get something to eat and then return to Hardwick's house. (T 315). [visit #2].

Showalter testified that between 11:30 and 12:00 that same evening, Hardwick, Bartley and Pullum returned to Showalter's house in Hardwick's automobile. Hardwick again accused Showalter and Pullum of stealing his quaaludes. Hardwick also said that he would kill either Showalter or Pullum if he didn't get his quaaludes within an hour. (T 315). Hardwick and Bartley drove off leaving Pullum and Showalter. [visit #3]. Showalter urged Pullum to call the police but Pullum replied "they ain't gonna mess with me." (T 317). Pullum walked down the road. That was the last time Showalter saw Pullum. Hardwick's car stopped beside Pullum and after a moment drove off. (T 317).

Although several witnesses reported that Bartley accompanied Hardwick that fatal night, and listed by the state as a witness, Bartley was never called to testify.

Daniel Dimaggio also testified that on the Sunday before Christmas, December 23, 1984, Hardwick told him that his quaaludes had been stolen and that "he would take care

۽ ۽

of the [individual] that took his quaaludes." (T 423). Dimaggio stated that Hardwick accused a couple of people, including Keith Pullum, of stealing the quaaludes. (T 423,

Dimaggio and Connie Wright testified that on Monday afternoon, December 24, 1986, Hardwick said "he took care of the [individual] that got his [quaaludes]." and that "if Keith Pullum walks through that door, he's got a ghost." (T 426). Joseph Delgross testified that Hardwick told him on Christmas eve that his quaaludes had been stolen and that he took care of one person by feeding him to the sharks and was looking for the other. (T 494).

Showalter and Daniel Dimaggio testified at trial that during this period of time, John Hardwick carried a .357 magnum pistol. (T 419). Dimaggio accompanied Hardwick to a wooded area off Alvin road and fired the magnum pistol some cement blocks. (T 420). He testified that the empty .357 shells were left in the dirt road adjacent to a fire pit. (T 422). Police Officer Johns recovered some lead fragments and copper jackets from a fire pit that had cement blocks in it in a wooded area off Alvin Road. (T710-12). Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) Analyst Tom Pulley testified of searching appellant's automobile and recovering a .357 magnum cartridge case. (T 720-21). FDLE Crime Analyst David Warniment compared the six .357 magnum shell casings recovered from the fire pit with the .357 shell casing

r ş

seized from the appellant's automobile. (T 731). He concluded that the shell casing found in the automobile and the shell casing found in the fire pit were fired from the same firearm. (T 733).

The cause of the victim's death was explained by Bonoflorio Floro, M.D., Chief Deputy Medical Examiner. Floro testified of three different injuries: a gunshot wound in the right lower back; stab wounds to the chest and back; and injuries to the head. (T 392). The gunshot wound commenced on the inside of the back of the left forearm, exited the right side of the midforearm, and continued with a wound to the right lower back of the victim. (T 369, 385). Dr. Floro recovered a .357 or .38 caliber bullet. (T 391). There were two stab wounds in the chest and another stab wound in the back. (T 369). One stab wound went through the lung and into the vena cava. (T 378). Dr. Floro opined that the stab wounds were inflicted by a small single edge knife (T 381).

Dr. Floro testified that the victim was stabbed first, shot, and then struck about the head. He opined that the victim became unconscious within five to six minutes of being stabbed (T 378). He also testified that blows to the head occurred immediately after his death. (T 408).

At the close of the state's case, appellant's motion for a judgment of acquittal was denied. (T 771).

The defense proffered the testimony of David Buettner,

. :

a United States Navy seaman, who made a statement to his immediate superior officer, Chief Petty Officer Dombrowski, of accompanying two other individuals and killing an individual in Jacksonville. (T 773-74). Buettner testified that a marine, another sailor, and he took a young man to a wooded area off Heckscher Drive. The three military men physically beat the man; stabbed him in the back; and shot him with a .38 caliber pistol. (T 775). According to Buettner, the motive for the crime was the young man's affair with the men's respective wives and girl friends while the men were at sea. (T 795). On cross-examination, Buettner admitted that the statement was based on his imagination and not true. (T 777). On redirect, Buettner stated that the basis of his statement to Dombrowski was a conversation with an individual he identified as "Banana Man" (T 790). The state's objection to Buettner's testimony was sustained. (T 797).

The defense presented no other witnesses and rested.

The trial court heard arguments regarding jury instructions. The Court denied two jury instructions proposed by the defense: instruction on intoxication and specific intent (R 147) and knowledge of crime and guilt. (R 148).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty to first degree murder. (T 946).

At the penalty stage of the trial, the state did not

. 3

call any witnesses but introduced into evidence two prior convictions reflecting violent felonies. (T 964). The state did not offer evidence of any other aggravating factor. The appellant did not present any witnesses in support of mitigating factors.

The jury returned with an advisory sentence and by a vote of seven to five recommended a sentence of death. (T 1011). The trial court took the sentence under advisement and announced a date for argument of aggravation and mitigation to the court.

The trial court adjudicated the appellant to be guilty of first degree murder. (T 1034). The court, found five aggravating circumstances, no mitigating circumstances, and sentenced John Hardwick to death. (T 1034).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE WHICH TENDED TO PROVE THE APPELLANT'S INNOCENCE

In the trial below, the State filed a Motion in Limine to prohibit any and all argument, testimony, or evidence regarding seaman D.L. Buettner and his immediate superior office, C.P.O. L.G. Dombrowski. The assistant state attorney "believe[d] that . . . the defendant will attempt to introduce evidence . . . that a "Banana Man"committed this murder [and] the prejudicial effect of such evidence or inference outweighs its probative value." (R 142). The trial court initially granted the motion in part because the testimony was insufficiently reliable. (T 107). After the defense proffered Buettner's testimony, the trial court granted the motion based upon Section 90.804(2)(C) and ruled that the testimony was untrue and not reliable. (T 797). granting the state's motion, the trial court erred preventing the defense an opportunity to raise a reasonable doubt by showing similar fact evidence that Buettner and not Hardwick committed the homicide.

A. Buettner's testimony was relevant and admissible Evidence.

The trial court misconstrued the Florida Evidence Code in denying the admission of Buettner's testimony. Sections 90.402, and 90.404(2) Florida Statutes, apply to

this cause: Section 90.402 provides that "All relevant evidence is admissible except as provided by law."Section 90.404(2)(a) proves that "Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity or absence of mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible wherever the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity."

In addition to statutory authority, a firmly established rule of criminal law is that one accused of crime may show his innocence by proof of the guilt of another. In Moreno v. State, 418 So.2d 1223, 1225 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the trial court denied a defense motion to admit relevant similar fact evidence which tended to exculpate the defendant. The appellate court found the denial of evidence which tends in any way, even directly, to prove a criminal defendant's innocence to be error:

[S]imilar crime evidence is relevant, non-prejudicial, and not inadmissible by any rule of law, [and] should have been admitted. One accused of a crime may show his innocence by proof of the guilt of another. Lindsay v.State, 68 So. 932(1915); see, Barnes v.State, 415 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); Pahl v. State, 415 So.2d 42 (Fla. 2d DCA (1982).

In <u>Pahl v. State</u>, supra, the appellate court found the trial court committed reversible error in denying the introduction into evidence of similar crime evidence by

. .

which the accused could show his innocence by proof of the guilt of another. "Where the state relies substantially on circumstantial evidence to connect an accused with a crime, and there is independent evidence connecting another person with that crime, the defendant may also by circumstantial evidence attempt to prove that someone else committed the act in question." id., at 42. The testimony of Buettner was proof of guilt of someone other than John Hardwick. It was similar crime evidence which tended to prove the appellant's innocence. The Trial Court erred in denying relevant testimony by Buettner.

B. Buettner's Testimony was Admissible as an Exception to the Hearsay Rules: Statement against Penal Interest.

Buettner testified on proffer that with two other men, he killed a young man, or alternatively, heard the story from a man called "Banana Man". In granting the state's objection/motion in limine, the trial court found the Buettner's testimony to be untrue, reliable and against Buettner's interest to justify its admission as a Declaration against Penal Interest. This ruling ruling was error.

In <u>Maugeri v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 975 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), the appellate court reviewed the requirements for admitting an inculpatory statement against penal interest:

[I]t must be shown that (1) the declarant is unavailable as a witness, (2) the statement must

so far tend to subject the declarant to criminal liability that a reasonable person would not have made the statement unless he or she believed it to be true, and (3) corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement. (citations omitted). Id. at 977.

Maugeri appealed the trial court's admission into evidence of testimony by the victim's girlfriend that the victim had informed her of stealing two kilograms of cocaine from Maugeri. The appellate court found the testimony was properly admitted as a statement against penal interest under the hearsay exception.

In the cause before the court, the declarant "Banana Man" was unavailable. His statement would have subjected him to criminal liability for homicide and was such that a reasonable person would not have made the statement unless he believed it to be true. In contrast to Card v. State, 453 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1984), there is corroborating evidence and assurances of reliability of the statement. Nine months after the homicide, Buettner admitted to murder. Buettner admitted to CPO Dombrowski that a marine, another sailor and he took a young man named Keith to an area off Heckscher The three stabbed, shot with a drive in December. .38 caliber pistol, and beat a young man to death. The body left on a beach on Heckscher Drive. These facts mirror facts of the crime: that a young man was stabbed, shot beat to death off Hecksher Drive. Unlike Card, in the case before the court there is a confession to a specific crime.

Unlike <u>Card</u>, there is corroborating evidence and assurance of the reliability of the statement. The appellant was denied a fair trial by exclusion of the hearsay evidence. The judgment and sentence must be reversed and remanded for new trial.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW OR APPOINT OF CO-COUNSEL

. •

Less than a month before trial, Defense Counsel filed a Motion to Withdraw, or alternatively, for appointment of co-counsel. A hearing was held and the appellant testified of irreconcilable differences with his defense counsel. The appellant repeatedly reinstated that he was inadequate to represent himself but will do so if the court did not grant the Motion to Withdraw. The motion was denied. Subsequently, in the middle of trial, the appellant again renewed his motion to discharge counsel.

A. The Trial Court Denied Appellant His Right to Self-Representation

A criminal defendant has the right to represent himself. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed 2d.562 (1975); Jones v. State, 499 So.2d den. 105 S.Ct. 269 (1984). 1984), cert. The unreasonable refusal to accept appointed counsel is equivalent to a request for self-representation. Jones v. State, supra. In the absence of unusual circumstances, accused who is mentally competent has the right to conduct his own defense without counsel. State v. Cappetta, 216 So.2d 749 (Fla. 1968). Upon receiving a timely motion to proceed, Faretta places the duty on the trial court to make the defendant aware of the benefits he must relinquish and disadvantages of self-representation. the dangers and Thereafter, the Trial Court must determine whether the

defendant has made his choice voluntarily and intelligently. Keene v. State, 420 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

In Smith v. State, 444 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st 1984), the appellate court set the procedure which a trial court must follow before allowing an indigent defendant to discharge his court-appointed counsel and represent himself. First, the trial court must determine whether accurate grounds exist for replacement of defendant's Second, the trial court must make the defendant aware this request is the same as the request for self-representation and explain to the defendant the dangers of self-representation. Third, the court must also determine whether unusual circumstances exist which would cause the accused to be deprived of a fair trial permitted to conduct his defense. The court must inquire into the defendant's age, mental derangement, lack of knowledge, education or inexperience in criminal procedures to make certain that he is aware of the disadvantage under which he is placing himself by waiving counsel.

The appellant made an unequivocal request to act as his own counsel. In addition, counsel for the appellant informed the trial court of the appellant's desire to represent himself after hearing all the motion to withdraw. The appellant was faced with a Hobson's choice to proceed at trial with counsel that he felt incompetent and had

irreconcilable differences or represent himself. Based on these facts, the appellant sufficiently invoked his right to proceed <u>per se</u> and the trial court erred in denying appellant his constitutional right to represent himself. This constitutes reversible error.

B. The Trial Court Failed to Adequately Protect the Appellant's Right to Counsel

Appellant requested the trial court to discharge his court appointed counsel on the ground the counsel was not rendering effective assistance of counsel. The trial court conducted a hearing but denied the appellant's motion. In Nelson v. State, 274 So.2d 256, (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), the Fourth District Court of Appeal set forth the defendant's right to counsel and the procedures which a trial court should follow when a defendant request the discharge of his court-appointed counsel before the commencement of trial. There the court held that:

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