Derved 2 days

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JOHN GARY HARDWICK, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 68,769

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

JAN 22 1987

By Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Capital Case

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KURT L. BARCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE II

The trial court was correct in denying the Appellant's motion to withdraw or appoint co-counsel. The Appellant is not entitled to appointed counsel of his choice. The trial court conducted a hearing and correctly found that there was no basis for removal of court appointed counsel. The Appellant's request to represent himself was equivocal, therefore, the court was justified in not discharging court appointed counsel. Even if the court had concluded that the Appellant had requested to represent himself, it correctly conducted a hearing into his ability to represent himself and concluded that he was not capable of doing so.

ISSUE III

It is well established in Florida law that the scope and limitation of cross examination lies within the sound descretion of the trial judge. The trial court acted within it's discretion by refusing to allow cross examination concerning testimony that was untrue.

ISSUE IV

The trial court was correct in denying the defendant's motion for a mistrial since there was no violation of the witness sequestration rule which was serious enough to warrant that type of sanction.

ISSUE V

The trial court was correct in denying the Appellant's requested jury instruction on intoxication since there was no evidence presented that the Appellant was intoxicated at the time of the offense.

ISSUE VI

The evidence offered by the prosecution was legally sufficient to support the Appellant's conviction. Contrary to the Appellant's assertion the circumstantial evidence rule does not apply since there was direct evidence of the Appellant's guilt in the form of his confession. Moreover, the State's evidence that the Appellant owned and carried a .357 magnum, the Appellant's threats to kill the victim, and the Appellant's confession following the murder is sufficient evidence to support the juries finding of guilt.

ISSUE VII

The trial court was correct in finding aggravating

circumstances of a felony conviction involving the use or threat of violence to a person. The medical examiners testimony supported the trial court's finding that the murder was committed during the commission of a kidnapping. The fact that the Appellant was a drug dealer and that he was consumed with the idea that Pullum had stolen his drugs supports the court's finding that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. medical examiner's testimony that the victim would have been conscious for approximately five to six minutes after the first stab wound, and the fact that he suffered the pain of several stab wounds supports the court's finding that the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel. Moreover, the fact that the Appellant told people prior to the killing that he was going to kill Pullum for taking his drugs supports the finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. No evidence was introduced to support the Appellant's contention that he committed the murder while impaired from the use of drugs and alcohol.

ISSUE VIII

The trial court did not improperly double aggravating circumstances since each circumstance has a separate factual basis.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE TENDERED BY THE APPELLANT FOR THE PURPOSE OF ESTABLISHING APPELLANT'S INNOCENCE. (RESTATED)

The Appellant contends that the trial court below erred by excluding the testimony of Seaman Buettner. The Appellants contention that Buettner's testimony was relevant is totally unfounded.

Relevant evidence is evidence tending to prove a material fact and is admissible except as provided by law. F.S. 90.401; 90.402. The trial court has wide discretion concerning the admission of evidence and absence abuse of discretion it's ruling should not be disturbed. Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); Booker v. State, 397 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1981). The Appellee submits that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to admit the evidence since it was totally lacking in credibility and relevance. The witness admitted that his story to CPO Dombrowski was a product of his vivid imagination. True, he did state that it was partially based on something a third party told him, however, he also admitted that he recreated part of the crime based on T.V. Even if this Court were to determine that Mr. Buettner's statement had some basis in fact and was therefore credible the evidence is still irrelevant. Witness

Buettner's story does not even fit the case at hand. instance, the victim was killed in December and Buettner has his victim being killed in February. (T 796-797) The medical examiner testified that the Appellant's victim was dispatched with a small single edge knife. Buettner however, says that his victim was stabbed with a bayonet. (T 777) The medical examiner also testified that the victim Pullum had a gun shot wound that comminced on the inside of the back of the left forearm and exited the right side of the mid-forearm and continued with a wound to the right lower back of the victim. He also testified that there were two stab wounds in the chest and another stab wound in the back. (T 369) Buettner testified that his victim was stabbed in the back. The medical examiner also testified that the victim had blows to the head administered immediately after death. Buettner testified that his victim was first beatened then stabbed and shot in the back of the head. (T 775) Appellee submits that the record clearly shows that the trial court was correct in excluding the evidence since the testimony was inherently unreliable, totally unworthly of consideration by the Court or the jury and could have confused and mislead the jury.

Next the Appellant contends that the evidence was admissible as similar fact evidence of other crimes pursuant to Section 90.404(2)(a), Fla.Stat. The Appellee submits that the Appellant is precluded from arguing error based on this ground because

defense counsel below did not attempt to introduce the evidence for that purpose. Counsel on appeal is bound by the acts of trial counsel.

Should the Court however determine that the Appellant has properly preserved the issue then his argument must still fail. To support his position the Appellant cites Morano v. State, 418 So.2d 1223 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). The Appellant's reliance upon the Courts decision in Morano is misplaced. The Court in Morano stated that a reading of the entire statute indicated that it only applied to the use of similar crime evidence by the State against the defendant in a criminal trial. The Court in Morano determined that the defendants evidence tending to show that the crime was committed by the State's chief witness was admissable pursuant to \$90.402 Fla Stat. In determining that the defendant's evidence was admissable the Morano Court stated:

There is authority supportive of Appellant's argument that it's proffered evidence should be admitted. Where defendant offers evidence which is of substantial probative value and such evidence tends not to confuse or prejudice, all doubts should be resolved in favor of admissability. Polk v. United States, 342 F.2d 163 (Fla. 5th Cir. 1965); Commonweath v. Keizer, 385 N.E.2d 1001 (Mass. 1979). Where evidence tends, in anyway, even indirectly, to prove a defendants innocence, it is err to deny its admission. Chanler v. State, 366 So.2d 64 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979); Watts v. State, 354 So.2d 145 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978). In Commonweath v. Keizer, supra the Court permitted defendant to show

that crimes of a similar nature had been committed by some other person so closely connected in point of time and method of operation as to cast doubt upon the identification of the defendant as the person who committed the crime. The evidence appellant sought to have committed herein is of a crime alleged to have been subsequently committed by the State's key witnesses which is so similar, in its method and circumstances, to the events surounding the defendants alleged defense that it could if heard by the jury, raise a reasonable doubt as to the defendants Because the similar crime evidence is relevant, non-prejudicial, and not inadmissible by any rule of law, it should have been admitted.

Id. 1225. The Appellee agrees that evidence which tends to show that the defendant did not commit a crime is admissable. However, in the instant case the facts contained in Mr. Buettner's testimony do not concern a crime which is so similar in its method and circumstances to the Appellant's alleged defense that it could have created in the mind of the jury a reasonable doubt as to his quilt.

The Appellant also cited Pahl v. State, 415 So. 2d 42 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982). In Pahl the District Court of Appeal held that the trial court erred in refusing to allow introduction of evidence that one victim had intentionally set three fires shortly before the fire in question. The Court's decision in Pahl again sets forth the proposition that a defendant may prove his innocence by introducing evidence that someone else committed the crime. There is, however, a rather obvious distinction

between the evidence proffered in Pahl and the evidence proffered In Pahl the defendant had proffered the in the instant case. testimony from three eye witnesses indicating that they had observed the victim intentionally set three fires shortly before The testimony was offered to show that the victim could have started the fire in question, either accidentially or deliberatly. In the instant case, the defendant proffered the fabricated story of a sailor or the unsubstantiated story of an obscure figure tenuiously identified as "Banana man". In the two cases cited by the Appellant the Court was dealing with competent material and relevant evidence from identifiable witnesses who hadn't already admitted that they were lying. Even in the most liberal court before a defendant is permitted to waive a cloke of guilt to place on the back of another the yarn must at least have some basis in fact.

The Appellant next contends that the proffered evidence was admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule. The Appellant is again attempting to argue admissibility based upon grounds that were not argued below. The record indicates that the evidence was not proffered as a statement from an unavailable declarant. The following exchange took place in the record:

The Court: It still sounds to me like, number 1, that we have got a witness who is saying that whatever he said before was totally untrue as far as his direct knowledge. And I am assuming at this point that the hearsay statements of "Banana Man" are not being offered?

Mr. Tassone: I didn't think this was the opportunity to offer them, Your Honor. The Court: I think you are right. Just want to make sure.

(T 796). And the Appellee submits that the Appellant is precluded from raising these matters for the first time on appeal and that he is bound by the acts of trial counsel.

The Appellee submits that before a statement can be admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule pursuant to the penel interest exception not only must a declarant be unavailable he must also be known. Testimony that the statement came from a person known as "Banana Man" is not sufficient identification of the declarant to know that the statement was made or that a person name "Banana Man" even exists.

The Appellee submits further that the evidence is inadmissible pursuant to Section 90.403, Fla.Stat. which makes relevant evidence inadmissible if its propative value is substantially outweighted by the danger of prejudice, confusion of issues, or misleading of the jury. In the instant case, as pointed out by the trial court, even assuming that there was some basis in fact, from what the witnesses described it sounded as if he was describing a murder other than the one that was the subject of the trial. There was nothing to connect his testimony to the subject murder. Consequently, the trial court was correct in excluding the evidence.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW OR APPOINT CO-COUNSEL. (RESTATED)

The Appellant first claims that the trial judge violated Faretta v. California, 442 U.S. 806 (1975), and Jones v. State, 449 So.2d 253 (Fla. 1984) by not allowing him to waive his right to counsel and represent himself following allegedly inadequate inquiries in regard to his motion to withdraw or appoint cocounsel.

Although, a criminal defendant who faces imprisonment has the absolute right to the assistance of counsel, he also has, in the absence of unusual circumstances the absolute right to waive such assistance and defend himself if such waiver is assertained, after a thorough inquiry, to be knowing and intelligent. Faretta v. California; Smith v. State, 407 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984 (1982); See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.111; Baranko v. State, 406 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), dismissed, 412 So.2d 463 (Fla. 1982); Carter v. State, 408 So.2d 766 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

Upon receiving a motion from a criminal defendant to discharge his court appointed attorney, the trial must first determine whether adequate grounds exist for replacement of the attorney. Nelson v. State, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

In the instant case the appellant's attorney filed a motion to withdraw, citing as grounds therefore various disagreements between himself and his client.

The appellant contends that the trial court did not make adequate inquiries in regard to his motion and therefore denied him his right to represent himself. The appellee submits that the trial court, as required by Nelson v. State, supra, and Smith v. State, 444 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), conducted a hearing to determine whether or not grounds existed for the replacement of the defendant's counsel. After hearing from all parties concerned the court made a decision that the attorney who was appointed to handle the case was not incompetent and that the appellant was not entitled to a new attorney (T 63-76). An indigent defendant has no right to select a particular court appointed attorney, See Donald v. State, 166 So.2d 453, 457 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1964); Wiltz v. State, 346 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977), cert. denied, 358 So.2d 135 (Fla. 1978); Hucklebury v. State, 337 So.2d 400 (Fla 2nd DCA 1976); Jones v. State, 429 So.2d 396 (Fla 1st DCA 1983), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ____, 104 S.Ct. 234 (1983). Which moreover, "there is no sixth amendment right to 'meaningful' attorney-client relationship" where difficulties arise between the attorney and the client due to the client's obstinance, Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 14,(1983) note 6; and "neither the exercise of the right to self representation or to appointed counsel may be used as a device to abuse the

v. State, 449 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, ____ U.S.
____, 83 L.Ed.2d 305 (1985); See also <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422
U.S. 806, 834.

The appellee submits that after making a determination that court-appointed counsel was not incompetent, the trial must then advise the defendant that if his request to discharge his attorney is granted he will be unrepresented. State v. Smith, supra. The court must also explain to the defendant the disadvantages and dangers of self-representation. Faretta v. California, supra.

If the court is convinced that the defendant is in fact waiving counsel, it must then make inquiries to determine that the defendant is making his choice voluntarily and intelligently. Faretta, supra; Parker v. State, 423 So.2d 553 (Fla 1st DCA 1982). A waiver shall not be accepted if the defendant is unable to make a rational choice due to his "mental condition, age, education, experience, or the nature or complexity of the case," Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.11 (d); accord, Ausby v. State, 358 So.2d 562 (Fla 1st DCA 1978), cert. denied, 365 So.2d 715 (Fla. 1978). Any inquiry therefore, pursuant to Faretta v. California must touch upon these matters. See State v. Smith, 444 So.2d 542 (1st DCA 1984); Tucker v. State, 440 So.2d 60 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); review denied, 447 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1984); Varner

v. State, 436 So.2d 407 (Fla. lst DCA 1983), review denied, 447
So.2d 888 (Fla. 1984); Martin v. State, 434 So.2d 979 (Fla lst
DCA 1983); Cann v. State, 420 So.2d 908 (Fla. lst DCA 1982),
reviewed denied, 430 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1982); Costello v. Carlisle,
413 So.2d 834 (Fla. lst DCA 1982).

The process of determining whether a defendant has waived his right to counsel and by doing so requests self-representation is not always easy for a trial court to determine. The trial court can easily follow the procedures set forth in Faretta, supra where the defendant comes into court and unequivocally requests that he be permitted to represent himself. The difficulty arises where, as in the instance case, the defendant, after indicating his dissatisfaction with trial counsel, vacillates upon the issue of self-representation.

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